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)




)
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)

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER


On December 3, 2001, the Director of Public Safety (Director) filed a complaint seeking to discipline the peace officer certificate of Nicholas J. Stanek for having committed a crime.  On December 6, 2001, the Director filed an amended complaint adding the alternative grounds for discipline of committing gross misconduct indicating an inability to function as a peace officer and having been convicted of a felony.  On January 23, 2002, the Director filed a motion for summary determination of the complaint, with an exhibit.  Pursuant to section 536.073.3,
 our Regulation 

1 CSR 15-2.450(4)(C) provides that we may decide this case without a hearing if any party establishes facts that (a) no party disputes and (b) entitle any party to a favorable decision.  ITT Commercial Fin. Corp. v. Mid-Am. Marine Supply Corp., 854 S.W.2d 371, 380-82 (Mo. banc 1993).  We gave Stanek until February 14, 2002, to respond to the Director’s motion, but he did not respond.  

Therefore, the following facts, as established by the pleadings and the Director’s certified records, are undisputed.  

Findings of Fact

1. Stanek holds peace officer Certificate No. ###-##-####, which is current and active, and was so at all relevant times.

2. On or about April 22, 2001, Stanek was in possession of child pornography.

3. On May 7, 2001, Stanek pled guilty, in the United States District Court, Western District of Missouri, to possession of child pornography in violation of 18 U.S.C. 2252A(a)(5)(B).  United States  v. Stanek, No. 01-03034-01-CR-S-1.

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.  Section 590.080.2, RSMo Supp. 2001.  The Director has the burden to prove that Stanek has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  The Director cites section 590.135.2(1) and (6), RSMo 1994,
 which allow discipline for:


(1) Conviction of a felony including the receiving of a suspended imposition of a sentence following a plea of guilty to a felony charge;

*   *   *


(6) Gross misconduct indicating inability to function as a peace officer[.]

That statute was in effect when the facts occurred, but was repealed by the time the Director filed the complaint.  In the alternative, the Director cites section 590.080.1(2), RSMo Supp. 2001, which allows discipline if Stanek:  “Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed[.]”  That statute was in effect when the Director filed the complaint, but not when the facts occurred.  

Although it seems counterintuitive to allow the Director to file a petition under section 590.135 after its repeal, section 1.170 allows him to do so.  It provides:

The repeal of any statutory provision does not affect any act done or right accrued or established in any proceeding, suit or prosecution had or commenced in any civil case previous to the time when the repeal takes effect; but every such act, right and proceeding remains as valid and effectual as if the provisions so repealed had remained in force.

(Emphasis added.)  That statute operates as a savings clause for any repealed statute.  Its purpose is to preserve the legal consequences of an action as they existed at the time the action occurred.  Protection Mutual Ins. Co. v. Kansas City, 551 S.W.2d 909, 913 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1977).

For example, in Comerio v. Beatrice Foods Co., 595 F.Supp. 918 (E.D. Mo., 1984), an amendment to the service letter statute (section 290.140, repealed and re-enacted effective August 13, 1982) did not affect the validity of a service letter request made before the change:  

In the case at bar, plaintiff's request clearly satisfied the statute in effect at the time of said request.  Carr v. Montgomery Ward, 363 S.W.2d 571 (Mo.1963).  Because the amendments did not affect “acts done” prior to August 13, 1982, said amendments do not affect the sufficiency of plaintiff's request.  In other words, plaintiff’s request need not have complied with formalities which were not required at the time of said request. Defendant’s first argument is rejected.

Defendant’s second argument is a variation on its first. Defendant argues that by repealing former § 290.140 and by enacting the new statute, the legislature “ ‘forgave’ any liability for 

any prior purported violation.”  Defendant’s Memorandum in Support of Motion To Dismiss at 5.  According to defendant, plaintiff's cause of action was extinguished by the repeal of Mo.Rev.Stat. § 290.140 (1978), because plaintiff did not file this action until after August 13, 1982.  This argument must be rejected because the amendments did not expressly “forgive” or extinguish any liability and [section 1.170 does] not mandate such a result. . . .  [Section] 290.140, as re-enacted, may not be applied retroactively in such a case.  The issue presented here is the effect of the amendments on a case filed subsequent to August 13, 1982, where the relevant events occurred prior to August 13, 1982.  In the opinion of this Court, [section 1.170 will] require this Court to 

apply the statute as it is presently worded to the extent possible 

without affecting “acts done” prior to August 13, 1982.  Thus, the prior statute governs the sufficiency of plaintiff's request and the legality of defendant’s conduct in response thereto.  Plaintiff’s right to sue defendant for violation of the old statute accrued prior to August 13, 1982, and said right was not extinguished by enactment of the new statute on August 13, 1982.  

Id. at 920-921 (footnote omitted).  Therefore, under section 1.170, we evaluate the facts under the law in effect when they occurred.  

Stanek possessed child pornography.  He pled guilty to that felony.  We also find that this is gross misconduct indicating an inability to function as a peace officer.  His certificate is subject to discipline under section 590.135.2(1) and (6).
  

C.  Conclusion

We conclude that Stanek’s certificate is subject to discipline under sections 590.135.2(1) and (6).  We cancel the hearing.  


SO ORDERED on April 17, 2002.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.


�All references to section 590.135 are to RSMo 1994.


�Although we have previously held that the Director may not proceed under section 590.080 when the facts occurred prior to that statute’s effective date, it is possible that that statute may also apply.  Statutes are presumed to operate prospectively.  Holden v. Antom, Inc., 930 S.W.2d 526, 528 (Mo. App., E.D. 1996).  However, a statute may be applied retrospectively if:  (1) the legislature clearly expresses its intent that it be given retrospective application in the express language of the act or by necessary or unavoidable implication.  Id.





Under the logic of State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Boston, No. WD59989 (W.D. Mo. April 9, 2002), the language of section 590.080 indicates that the legislature intended the statute to operate retrospectively.  The words “has committed” refer to past events.  There is no qualifying phrase to indicate that the conduct must occur after the effective date of the statute.  To give full effect to the plain language of the statute, we must conclude that the legislature intended to include conduct that occurred prior to the effective date of the amendment.  Protecting the public health and welfare, a primary purpose of professional licensing statutes, supports that reading.  Lane v. State Comm. of Psychologists, 954 S.W.2d 23, 25 (Mo. App., E.D. 1997).  A violator is no less a menace to the public health and welfare because his conduct occurred before the effective date of the statute.  Barbieri v. Morris, 315 S.W.2d 711, 714 (Mo. 1958).





Another analysis under which section 590.080 could apply to facts occurring before August 28, 2001, is found in Childers v. Department of Environmental Protection, 696 So.2d 962 (Fla. App. 1 Dist. 1997).  In Childers, the court noted in a footnote that while statutes stating new grounds for license revocation or suspension should not be applied retroactively, the “substantial restatement of an old ground in a new statute authorizes disciplinary action on the preexisting ground under the new statute.”  Id. at 964.





We reserve embracing either theory at this point.  We note, however, that if we were to apply section 590.080.1(2) to this case, we would find that Stanek’s guilty plea is evidence that he committed the felony offense of possessing child pornography.  Mandacina v. Liquor Control Bd. of Review, 599 S.W.2d 240, 243 (Mo. App., W.D. 1980).  It is a declaration against interest, which he may explain away.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  However, Stanek has not explained that his guilty plea was anything other than a true expression of actual guilt.  Therefore, we would conclude that Stanek is also subject to discipline under section 590.080.1(2).
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